THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Feb 22 2022

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case Number: 2021-000946

Arthur W. MaconPetitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,Respondent.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF *CERTIORARI*

E. Charles Grose, Jr.
S.C. Bar Number 66063
The Grose Law Firm, LLC
404 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
(864) 538-4466
(864) 538-4405 (fax)
Email: charles@groselawfirm.com

Attorney for Petitioner Arthur W. Macon

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Question I

Did trial counsel render constitutionally deficient and prejudicial assistance of counsel—in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, §§ 3 and 14 of the South Carolina Constitution—by failing to obtain a mistrial when the jurors were deadlocked for several days, fatigued, and forced to continue deliberations even though some of the jurors wanted to be released from jury service?

Question II

Did trial counsel render constitutionally deficient and prejudicial assistance of counsel—in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, §§ 3 and 14 of the South Carolina Constitution—when she had a conflict of interest because she was married to the Deputy Solicitor who had supervisory responsibility for the assistant solicitors prosecuting Arthur Macon?

Question III

Did trial counsel render constitutionally deficient and prejudicial assistance of counsel—in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, §§ 3 and 14 of the South Carolina Constitution—by failing to object to the prosecutor’s improper closing argument calling Arthur Macon a liar?

Question IV

Did trial counsel render constitutionally deficient and prejudicial assistance of counsel—in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, §§ 3 and 14 of the South Carolina Constitution—by failing to object to improper vouching of a prosecution witness by another prosecution witness during the trial and the prosecutor during closing argument?

Question V

Should this Court order a new trial based on the cumulative error doctrine?

Question VI

Should this Court require post-conviction relief judges to draft the final orders in PCR cases in order to ensure the findings of fact and conclusions of law, required by S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80, are those of the court, rather than an advocate, and to preserve the separation of powers between the judicial branch and executive branch as required by S.C. Const. Art. I, § 8?

STATEMENT OF CASE

The State charged Arthur Macon with armed robbery and four counts of kidnapping for an incident occurring on August 30, 2012. The Richland County grand jury indicted Mr. Macon on January 16, 2013. A. 2-3, 869-70. The grand jury amended the indictment. A. 867-68. A. From September 29 to October 3, 2014, the State tried Mr. Macon before the Honorable Deandrea G. Benjamin and a jury. A. 6-512. Richard C.R. Cathcart and Jeremiah J. Shellenberg, both of the Fifth Circuit Solicitor's Office, represented the State. Kristy G. Goldberg¹ represented Mr. Macon. The jurors convicted Mr. Macon of armed robbery and acquitted him of four counts of kidnapping. A. 457-61. On October 3, 2014, Judge Benjamin sentenced Mr. Macon to twenty-three years imprisonment. A. 1, 474.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Mr. Macon's conviction and sentence. *State v. Macon*, Appellate Case No. 2014-002126, Unpublished Opinion No. 2018-UP-031 (Filed January 17, 2018). A. 557-59. On March 28, 2018, the Court of Appeals denied Mr. Macon's Petition for Rehearing. A. 566-67. On October 18, 2018, this Court denied Mr. Macon's petition for a writ of *certiorari*. *State v. Macon*, Appellate Case No. 2018-000737. A. 610. The Remittitur issued on November 6, 2018. A. 611.

On September 23, 2019, through undersigned counsel, Mr. Macon submitted an application for post-conviction relief ("PCR"), which the Clerk of Court refused to file. A. 612-26. On October 4, 2019, Mr. Macon served a petition for a writ of mandamus requiring the Clerk of Court to file his PCR application. A. 627-43. The Clerk of Court filed the PCR application on October 4, 2019, rendering the petition for a writ of mandamus moot. A.

¹ At the time of Mr. Macon's jury trial, Ms. Goldberg was married to Richland County Deputy Solicitor Daniel Goldberg. A. 752-53, 798. Deputy Solicitor Goldberg had supervisory authority over the Assistant Solicitors prosecuting Mr. Macon. A. 796-97.

612, 614, 621, 627. On December 23, 2019, Mr. Macon amended his PCR application. A. 644-54. The State served its return on June 15, 2020. A. 667-79. On April 16, 2021, the Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith convened an evidentiary hearing via WebEx. A. 687-850. Undersigned counsel represented Mr. Macon. Lindsey A. McCallister and Michael Davidson, both of the South Carolina Attorney General’s Office, represented the State.

By written order dated June 29, 2021, Judge Goldsmith dismissed Mr. Macon’s PCR application. A. 875-907. On July 16, 2021, Mr. Macon served his Rule 59(e), SCRCP. A. 908-82. On July 26, 2021, 2021, the State responded to the motion. A. 982-1001. On August 5, 2021, Mr. Macon replied. A. 1002-06. On August 10, 2021, Judge Goldsmith denied the Rule 59(e) motion. A. 1007. This petition for a writ of *certiorari* follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Under the first prong of *Strickland v. Washington*, a defendant “must show that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness,” which must be judged under “prevailing professional norms.” 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984). “The first prong—constitutional deficiency—is necessarily linked to the practice and expectations of the legal community: The proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 366 (2010) (internal quotations omitted). “If the State contends the alleged deficiency resulted from a strategic decision made at trial, counsel must articulate a valid reason for employing a certain strategy.” *Freiburger v. State*, 413 S.C. 243, 247, 775 S.E.2d 391, 393 (Ct. App. 2015); *cf. Ingle v. State*, 348 S.C. 467, 560 S.E.2d 401 (2002).

The second prong of *Strickland* requires a defendant establish that this deficiency prejudiced him. “The defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but

for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Id.* at 694. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. *Id.* “In determining whether the applicant has proven prejudice, the PCR court should consider the specific impact counsel’s error had on the outcome of the trial.” *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 188, 810 S.E.2d 836, 843 (2018) (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695-96 (explaining that the court must analyze how individual errors of counsel affect the important factual findings in a particular case)). “In addition, the PCR court should consider the strength of the State’s case in light of all the evidence presented to the jury.” *Id.* (citing *Jones v. State*, 332 S.C. 329, 333, 504 S.E.2d 822, 824 (1998) (“In deciding whether Jones was prejudiced, we must bear in mind the strength of the government’s case . . .,” and “we must consider the totality of the evidence before the jury.”)). “In general, the stronger the evidence presented by the State, the less likely the PCR court will find the applicant met his burden of proving prejudice.” *Id.* “Ordinarily, the existence of ‘overwhelming evidence’ does not automatically preclude a finding of prejudice.” *Id.* 422 S.C. at 189, 810 S.E.2d at 844. “[F]or the evidence to be ‘overwhelming’ such that it categorically precludes a finding of prejudice . . . the evidence must include something conclusive, such as a confession, DNA evidence demonstrating guilt, or a combination of physical and corroborating evidence so strong that the *Strickland* standard of ‘a reasonable probability . . . the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt’ cannot possibly be met.” *Id.* 422 S.C. at 191, 810 S.E.2d at 845.

This Court’s “standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue before” it. *Mangal v. State*, 421 S.C. 85, 91-92, 805 S.E.2d 568, 571 (2017). This Court will “defer to a PCR court’s findings of fact and will uphold them if there is any evidence in the record

to support them.” *Id.* This Court will “not defer to a PCR court’s rulings on questions of law.” *Id.* “Questions of law are reviewed de novo, and [this Court] will reverse the PCR court’s decision when it is controlled by an error of law.” *Id.* “On review of a PCR court’s resolution of procedural questions arising under the Post-Conviction Procedure Act or the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, [this Court] appl[ies] an abuse of discretion standard.” *Id.*

ARGUMENTS

Question I

Did trial counsel render constitutionally deficient and prejudicial assistance of counsel—in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, §§ 3 and 14 of the South Carolina Constitution—by failing to obtain a mistrial when the jurors were deadlocked for several days, fatigued, and forced to continue deliberations even though some of the jurors wanted to be released from jury service?

Arthur Macon’s trial counsel rendered deficient and prejudicial assistance of counsel—in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, §§ 3 and 14 of the South Carolina Constitution—by failing to obtain a mistrial when the jurors were deadlocked for several days, fatigued, and forced to continue deliberations even though some of the jurors wanted to be released from jury service altogether. A. 647-48, 650-51. Trial counsel failed to ask for an *Allen*² charge when the jurors first announced a deadlock, failed to object to an *Allen* charge that singled out a

² *Allen v. United States*, 164 U.S. 492 (1896). An *Allen* charge is sometimes “labelled the ‘dynamite’ charge because of its proven ability to ‘blast a verdict out of a jury otherwise unable to agree.’” *State v. Taylor*, 427 S.C. 208, 214, 829 S.E.2d 723, 727 (Ct. App. 2019) (quoting *United States v. Bailey*, 468 F.2d 652, 666 (5th Cir. 1972)). “[T]he label could just as well describe the *Allen* charge’s success in blowing up otherwise error-free trials by introducing volatile elements into the fluid and emotionally charged atmosphere prolonged jury deliberations often create.” *Id.* “Like dynamite, the charge must be handled with extreme care.” *Id.*

single juror, failed to move for a mistrial—on multiple occasions—when required by S.C. Code. § 14-7-1330, and failed to object to the trial court’s deference to the majority jurors to the detriment of the minority juror and her client.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees an accused the right to a trial by impartial jurors. The Sixth Amendment is applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. *E.g. Klopfer v. North Carolina*, 386 U.S. 213 (1967), *Pointer v. Texas*, 380 U.S. 400 (1965), *Gideon v. Wainwright*, 372 U.S. 335 (1963). “The verdict of the jury should represent the opinion of each individual juror.” *Allen*, 164 U.S. at 501. A trial court may properly instruct jurors to consider “opinions of each other” and “decide the case if they could conscientiously do so.” *Id.* “[J]urors may not be coerced into surrendering views conscientiously held.” *Jenkins v. United States*, 380 U.S. 445, 446 (1965). Determining whether “the jury was improperly coerced requires that [an appellate court] consider the supplemental charge given by the trial court in its context and under all the circumstances.” *Lowenfield v. Phelps*, 484 U.S. 231, 237 (1988) (citing *Jenkins*, 380 U.S. at 446). “South Carolina approves the use of a modified *Allen* charge, which must be neutral and even-handed, instruct both the majority and minority to reconsider their views, and cannot be directed at the jurors in the minority.” *State v. Taylor*, 427 S.C. 208, 214, 829 S.E.2d 723, 727 (Ct. App. 2019) (citing *Workman v. State*, 412 S.C. 128, 130, 771 S.E.2d 636, 638 (2015) and *Green v. State*, 351 S.C. 184, 194, 569 S.E.2d 318, 323 (2002)).

Brewster v. Hetzel, 913 F.3d 1042 (11th Cir. 2019) reviewed the history of trial courts coercing jurors to reach a verdict. “From the fourteenth through the eighteenth centuries, one method of accelerating unanimity was to prohibit jurors from eating or drinking until they all agreed on a verdict.” 913 F.3d at 1046 (citing 3 William Blackstone,

Commentaries 375). Judges could “carry” jurors around “the circuit from town to town in a cart. . . . until a judgment bounced out.” *Id.* (internal quotations and citations omitted) (citing Blackstone at 376 and *Renico v. Lett*, 559 U.S. 766, 780 (Stevens, J., dissenting)). *Brewster* acknowledged our judicial system has “come a long way and now accept[s] that some jury deliberations will end in deadlock.” 913 F.3d at 1047. In *Brewster*, the trial judge gave a “lengthy charge emphasiz[ing] that the jurors had taken an oath to follow the law, which meant they must deliberate more [and] his instructions with the challenge that he had taken his oath seriously and hoped they would do the same.” 913 F.3d at 1047. “[W]hen told that the one juror who wouldn’t vote to convict was doing crossword puzzles, the judge ordered all the reading materials taken out of the jury room.” *Id.* Eighteen minutes later, the jurors returned a guilty verdict. *Id.* *Brewster* observed, “Though the judge addressed his admonitions to the entire jury, the lone holdout must have felt as though they were aimed at her.” 913 F.3d at 1055. After all, “the holdout juror was using [crosswords puzzles] to keep holding out” and resist the pressure of the majority jurors. *Id.* 913 F.3d at 1054. *Brewster* held, “the coercive circumstances that led to the verdict undermined the fundamental fairness of the trial and the reliability of the verdict.” 913 F.3d at 1056. *Brewster* thus recognized the Sixth Amendment allows a juror to cease deliberating to protect a consciously held view from the pressure of the majority jurors.

The facts set forth below support this claim and, by reference, the facts and legal argument raised elsewhere in this pleading relevant to this claim are fully incorporated herein.

After instructing the jurors their verdict must be unanimous (A. 418), the trial judge submitted the case to the jurors at 10:51 a.m. on Wednesday, October 1, 2014 (A. 422). At

1:10 p.m., the jurors asked several questions including the “definition of reasonable doubt,” which the trial court re-instructed. A. 423-26, 851. At 3:01 p.m., the jurors announced, “We are not unanimous on any of the charges yet.” A. 428, 853. The jurors returned to the courtroom, and the trial court instructed, “You have to continue your deliberations. Okay? I’m going to send you all back in the jury room.” A. 429. At 6:10 p.m., the jurors asked:

Please give us a copy of “hand of one is hand of all” or re-explain it.

Update. *Still at a stalemate*. Progress is really slow. Do we need to come back tomorrow? Suggestion. We feel if we sleep on it we might be clearer in the morning.

A. 430-31, 854 (emphasis added). At 6:21 p.m., the trial judge excused the jurors until 9:30 a.m. on Thursday, October 2, 2014. A. 436.

The Jurors resumed deliberations at 9:53 a.m. on October 2, 2014. A. 439. At 1:02 p.m., the jurors announced:

Update. We are now at 11 to 1. Same as yesterday at this time. And when we left. The one person is not in agreement with the majority and said that they will not change their mind.

A. 442-43, 856. The trial judge gave an *Allen* charge that instructed the single juror not in agreement with the majority to “make every reasonable effort to reach a unanimous verdict,” “consider the majorities position,” and “re-evaluate your position for reasonableness, correctness, and impartiality.” Finally, the trial judge instructed the jurors “to return to your deliberations *with the hope you can arrive at a verdict* within a reasonable time.” A. 444-46 (emphasis added). After the jurors left the courtroom, the trial judge stated, “If they come back again and say they are deadlocked, I will declare a mistrial.” Both the Solicitor and trial counsel agreed a mistrial would be required under those circumstances. A. 446. The jurors resumed deliberations at 1:24 p.m. *Id.*

At 6:21 p.m., the jurors announced, “Your Honor, we have deliberated for the past eight hours and we are still in the same position. Fatigue has now set in and we need freshness.” A. 448, 859. The foreman returned to the courtroom without the rest of the jurors, and the following exchange occurred:

THE COURT: I received your note, which we have marked as Court’s Exhibit Number 12. And it reads: Your Honor, we have deliberated for the past eight hours and are still in the same position. [Fatigue has now set] in and we need freshness. I am not sure quite what you are asking for.

MR. FOREMAN: Well, *many of them are feeling like we are at an impasse*. We don’t know how much longer we can deliberate and still be soundly doing what we need to do. *But we’re at your mercy*.

MR. CATHCART: Your Honor, I would just ask if it means come back tomorrow or take a break or dinner or –

THE COURT: I mean, do you all need to go outside or are you asking to come back tomorrow or are you asking for food or are you asking – do you want to go back and just –

MR. FOREMAN: Some of them – well, *a good bit of them just want to get out of that room*. That is the biggest thing.

THE COURT: *Now or forever?*

MR. FOREMAN: *Two or three want to be forever*. But, you know, we are willing to do what we need to do, but just don’t want to be in that room right now. You know, some people are having claustrophobia problems. But somebody even mentioned, If I can just get fresh air for an hour.

THE COURT: Why don’t you go try to see what it is that they need.

MR. CATHCART: Your Honor, I would point out it is 6:30 almost, so come back tomorrow.

THE COURT: Well, they have not asked me for that.

MR. CATHCART: I understand that.

THE COURT: They have not asked me to come back tomorrow. So I can send you back in and try to find out what it is they are looking for.

MR. FOREMAN: Okay.

THE COURT: What it is that y'all want.

MR. FOREMAN: Okay.

THE COURT: And then

MR. FOREMAN: In a note?

THE COURT: You can send a note or come back in, either way.

MR. FOREMAN: I'll come back in. Thank you, Your Honor.

(Foreman exits courtroom.)

(Pause.)

(Foreman returns to courtroom at 6:40 p.m.)

MR. FOREMAN: All right. *The majority stated that they wouldn't mind coming back tomorrow. However, the question is, what is the reasonable amount of deliberation time that you mentioned earlier before you declare*

—

THE COURT: Oh, in the charge when I said reasonable?

MR. FOREMAN: Yes, amount of time.

THE COURT: I can't give you an amount. It is up to y'all.

MR. FOREMAN: So after we feel that a certain amount of time, it is up to us?

THE COURT: Reasonable for you all. I can't give you a time.

MR. FOREMAN: Well, we'll come back tomorrow at whatever time you give me.

THE COURT: We'll start back at 10:00 in the morning. Once they get here they can begin their deliberations. I mean, we don't have anything to do. You can just start deliberations. Since it is almost 7:00 now, we will let y'all get home and we'll start back at 10:00. I have got to bring them all in.

A. 449-52 (emphasis added).

At 6:42 p.m., all of the jurors returned to the courtroom. The trial judge excused the juror until 10:00 on Friday, October, 3, 2014 with instructions to resume deliberations once all the jurors were present. A. 452-53.

According to the trial transcript, deliberations resumed at 10:00 a.m. on October 3, 2014. A. 454. At 12:18 p.m., the Clerk of Court inquired whether it would be necessary to order lunch. The foreman returned to the courtroom without the rest of the jurors. Initially, the foreman informed the trial judge that “lunch may help,” but the matter was left unresolved after the trial judge stated, “[I]t takes maybe an hour or two to get the food here.” A. 454-55. At 12:47 p.m., the jurors returned a guilty verdict on the armed robbery charge. A. 456.

State v. Taylor summarized:

A trial judge has a duty to urge jurors to reach a verdict, but must do so in a way that does not coerce them, eroding their independence and impartiality. No set definition of coercion has emerged; instead, we detect its presence by viewing the charge in context and in light of four factors: (1) whether the charge speaks “specifically to minority jurors”; (2) whether the charge includes “you must return a verdict” type language; (3) whether there was an “inquiry into the jury's numerical division,” which is generally coercive; and (4) whether the time between when the charge was given and when the jury returned a verdict demonstrates coercion.

427 S.C. 208, 214-15, 829 S.E.2d 723, 727 (Ct. App. 2019) (citing *Tucker v. Catoe*, 346 S.C. 483, 492-95, 552 S.E.2d 712, 717-18 (2001) (per curiam)) (hereinafter “*Tucker* factors”).

The *Tucker* factors demonstrate the coercive and, therefore, unconstitutionality of the *Allen* charge in this case. This Court “must examine the charge in the context and setting it was given.” *Taylor*, 427 S.C. at 215, 829 S.E.2d at 727. “Under the circumstances here,

analysis of this first factor is shaded by considerations related to the third factor's concern with knowledge of the jury's numerical split." The third factor will be discussed below.

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