RECEIVED

Jun 27 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Richland County
Court of Common Pleas
Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-000946

ARTHUR W. MACON,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 100108

LILLIAN L. MEADOWS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103665

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Macon nonetheless contends that the “jurors, very literally, had ‘no escape’ from the jury room” and speculates that “[t]he sole holdout juror must have believed the only way to ‘escape’ from the jury room was to return a guilty verdict.” The PCR court correctly rejected this this conclusory and wholly unsupported contention, noting that the jurors impliedly consented to resume deliberations the following morning. *See Edwards v. Edwards*, 239 S.C. 85, 91, 121 S.E.2d 432, 436

(1961) (finding the jury’s consent to continue deliberations may be implied from lack of verbal response to request or failure to indicate unwillingness to resume deliberations). Counsel explained, in her mind, this indicated the jury was continuing to work to reach a verdict, and she did not request a mistrial at that time because she felt the jury was still deliberating. (App’x 768–69). She further testified that if she had known the breakdown of the jury was 11-1 against Applicant, it would have changed her advice about seeking a mistrial, and she would have advised him to do so at the time. (App’x 810–11). However, she had no way of knowing the alignment of the jury at that time. *Cf. Waters v. Thomas*, 46 F.3d 1506, 1514 (11th Cir. 1995) (“The widespread use of the tactic of attacking counsel by showing what ‘might have been’ proves that nothing is clearer than hindsight—except perhaps the rule that we will not judge counsel’s performance through hindsight.”).

Counsel further explained that she did not request a mistrial because, in her opinion, it would be better to have the judge declare a mistrial based on a hung jury rather than on her motion. (App’x 773–74). She explained that the solicitor would be more likely to make her client a favorable plea offer if he knew he was not able to convince the jury of Macon’s guilt. (App’x 774). Ultimately, Counsel felt the jury’s decision or lack thereof would ultimately result in a more favorable outcome for her client. (App’x 774). Because Counsel made a strategic decision not to request a mistrial, the PCR court properly denied relief.

II. The post-conviction relief judge correctly determined Macon failed to establish a conflict of interest existed based on trial counsel’s relationship with the deputy solicitor where he had no involvement in the case whatsoever aside from assigning it out to the two assistant solicitors well before trial counsel even became involved in Macon’s case.

Macon next contends the post-conviction relief judge erred by failing to find a conflict of interest existed based on Counsel’s relationship with Fifth Circuit Deputy Solicitor Dan Goldberg. In support of that contention, Macon claims Counsel was required to obtain his written consent and waiver of the purported conflict despite Macon’s failure to provide any evidence indicating

Counsel's relationship with Goldberg adversely affected her performance. *See Mickens v. Taylor*, 535 U.S. 162, 171 (2002) (clarifying that an "actual conflict," for Sixth Amendment purposes, is a "conflict that [adversely] affected counsel's performance—as opposed to a mere theoretical division of loyalties); *see State v. Gregory*, 364 S.C. 150, 152–53, 612 S.E.2d 449, 450 (2005) ("The mere possibility defense counsel may have a conflict of interest is insufficient to impugn a criminal conviction."). Further, Counsel and Goldberg both testified Goldberg had no involvement in the prosecution of Macon's case, did not have access to Counsel's file, and they did not have any substantive conversations about the case. Because there was no conflict to waive, the PCR court correctly declined to consider whether Counsel disclosed the nonexistent conflict or obtained a written waiver from Macon in denying relief on this issue.⁴ As these findings are supported by probative evidence and do not constitute an error of law, certiorari should be denied.

III. The post-conviction relief judge correctly determined trial counsel was not constitutionally ineffective for failing to object the solicitor calling Macon a "liar" during his closing argument in reference to Macon's conflicting statements to law enforcement where trial counsel replied with logical explanations for each of the discrepancies in Macon's statements during her closing argument and where Macon nonetheless failed to establish that the solicitor's comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process.

Macon next contends Counsel's performance was constitutionally ineffective for failing to object to various statements made by the solicitor in his closing argument. First, Macon maintains Counsel's failure to object to the solicitor calling him a "liar" during the State's closing argument cannot be categorized as strategic because Counsel admitted she was unaware of any case law that prohibits a solicitor from calling the defendant a liar. While this Court has previously held it is improper to call a party a liar in closing arguments, improper comments do not automatically require

⁴ To the extent Macon relies on alleged violations of various ethics rules on the part of Counsel, this Court has held that the Rules of Professional Conduct, whose purpose is to regulate and guide the legal profession in ethical conduct, "*have no bearing on the constitutionality of a criminal conviction.*" *Langford v. State*, 310 S.C. 357, 360, 426 S.E.2d 793, 795 (1993) (emphasis added).

reversal. *Humphries v. State*, 351 S.C. 362, 373, 570 S.E.2d 160, 166 (2002). Rather, the “relevant question is whether the solicitor’s comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process.” *Randall v. State*, 356 S.C. 639, 642, 591 S.E.2d 608, 610 (2004). When making this determination, courts “review the ‘alleged impropriety of argument in the context of the entire record.’” *State v. Liberte*, 336 S.C. 648, 655–56, 521 S.E.2d 744, 748 (Ct. App. 1999).

Moreover, “considerable latitude is generally allowed in matters of drawing and arguing inferences and deductions from evidence.” *Johnson v. Life Ins. Co. of Ga.*, 227 S.C. 351, 369, 88 S.E.2d 260, 269 (1955); see *State v. Huggins*, 325 S.C. 103, 107, 481 S.E.2d 114, 116 (1997) (“Arguments must be confined to evidence in the record (and reasonable inferences therefrom), although failure to do so will not automatically result in reversal.”). While a “solicitor may not rely on statements not in evidence during closing argument,” *Huggins*, 325 S.C. at 107, 481 S.E.2d at 116, “a solicitor has a right to state his version of the testimony and to comment on the weight to be given such testimony.” *Randall*, 356 S.C. at 642, 591 S.E.2d at 610.

Here, the solicitor referring to Macon as a “liar” in his closing argument was made in the context of Macon’s multiple conflicting statements to law enforcement, all of which were presented to the jury. Counsel confirmed at the PCR hearing that, in her opinion, the solicitor was merely commenting on his version of the facts and evidence already presented to the jury, and she did not believe moving for a mistrial based solely on the solicitor’s use of the word liar at that point would have been successful. (App’x 759–60). Further, while she agreed that his use of the word “liar” was possibly improper, Counsel explained that her general trial strategy is to make the jury like her by appearing more reasonable than the prosecution and making the State appear to be exaggerating and taking an extreme position. (App’x 757–59). In light of that strategy, she felt she could—and did—

offer logical explanations for each of the discrepancies in Macon's statements in her closing argument such that the solicitor calling him a "liar" appeared to be an exaggeration. (App'x 758).

The PCR court ultimately—and correctly—concluded that Macon failed to establish a mistrial would have been granted even had trial counsel objected to the solicitor's remark where it was limited to a single instance in the record; the issue had already been raised to the jury through the testimony and evidence presented regarding Macon's inconsistent statements to law enforcement; and where trial counsel was able to effectively explain the inconsistencies through her own closing argument. As these findings are supported by probative evidence and do not constitute an error of law, certiorari should be denied.

IV. The post-conviction relief judge correctly determined trial counsel was not constitutionally ineffective for failing to object to the solicitor's sympathetic characterization of Macon's co-defendant during his closing argument based on improper vouching where trial counsel vehemently objected to the subject testimony in its entirety at the appropriate time and where Macon neither identified any specific comments made during the solicitor's closing argument that constitute improper vouching given the testimony presented nor provided a basis upon which trial counsel could have objected.

Macon next makes a broad claim that trial counsel's performance was constitutionally ineffective for failing to object to the solicitor's alleged improper vouching of Jason Colon without identifying any specific statements made during the solicitor's closing argument that constitute improper vouching such that trial counsel had a basis to object. *See Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690 ("A convicted defendant making a claim of ineffective assistance must identify the acts or omissions of counsel that are alleged not to have been the result of reasonable professional judgment."). In fact, Counsel vehemently objected to Woodberry's testimony in its entirety, arguing it was "backdoor character evidence." While she succeeded in keeping parts of his testimony out, the trial court ultimately permitted Woodberry to testify about Colon's head injury and passive demeanor. The PCR court correctly pointed out that Macon failed to identify any specific instances of vouching in the

solicitor’s closing argument. While Macon apparently takes issue with what he characterizes as the solicitor portraying Colon as “vulnerable and sympathetic” and Macon as “heinous and despicable,” none of these comments suggest to the jury that the solicitor knew any outside information substantiating either Woodberry or Colon’s testimony. *See State v. Shuler*, 344 S.C. 604, 630, 545 S.E.2d 805, 818 (2001) (“Vouching occurs when a prosecutor implies he has facts that are not before the jury for their consideration.”). Rather, the solicitor’s remark that “Jason Colon was 16 years old and got shot in the head and it changed his life forever” related solely to Woodberry’s testimony. Accordingly, Counsel had no basis to object. *See Winkler v. State*, 418 S.C. 643, 651, 795 S.E.2d 686, 691 (2016) (“Because no applicable precedent supported making an objection, we find trial counsel’s decision not to object was reasonable.”).

V. Where Macon failed to establish any individual instances of deficient performance by trial counsel, the post-conviction relief judge properly denied relief because a cumulative error analysis would apply only to the effect of matters actually determined to be constitutional error rather than the cumulative effect of non-errors.

Macon further contends he is entitled to post-conviction relief based on the cumulative effect of trial counsel’s alleged errors. In support of that contention, Macon conflates *Strickland*’s prejudice analysis—wherein both this Court and the United States Supreme Court have instructed reviewing courts to consider the specific impact counsel’s error had on the outcome of the trial coupled with the strength of the State’s case in light of the totality of the evidence presented to the jury—with the notion that an attorney’s acts or omissions that are not unconstitutional individually can somehow be combined to create a constitutional violation.⁵ While this Court has recognized that, “[w]hether the

⁵ Macon specifically claims the PCR court “overlooks caselaw that incorporates the cumulative error analysis into the *Strickland* analysis by requiring the prejudice must be ‘considered collectively, not item-by-item,’” citing *Kyles v. Whitley*, 514 U.S. 419, 436 (1995). However, the issue before the Court in *Kyles* was based on a *Brady* violation. The portion of *Kyles* quoted by Macon refers to actual items of evidence the government failed to disclose. It instructs reviewing courts to consider

cumulation of several errors, which by themselves are not prejudicial, would warrant relief is an unsettled question in South Carolina the threshold to asking the cumulative prejudicial question is to first find multiple errors.” *Id.* at 197, 569 S.E.2d at 324–25. In *Smalls*, although the issue of cumulative error was not specifically raised, this Court stated, after finding multiple deficiencies on the part of trial counsel, that the “individual claims of deficient performance must be analyzed separately to determine whether either of them gives rise to a reasonable probability the result of the trial would have been different without counsel’s error.” 422 U.S. at 195, 810 S.E.2d at 847.

Here, where the PCR correctly concluded that Macon failed to establish any individual instances of deficient performance by trial counsel, multiple errors do not exist in this case to form any cumulative prejudicial effect. *See Fisher v. Angelone*, 163 F.3d 835, 852–853 (4th Cir. 1998) (holding that various claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, like claims of trial error, would not entitle petitioner to relief because a cumulative error analysis would apply only to the effect of those matters actually determined to be constitutional error and not the cumulative effect of all matters alleged or deemed deficient); *Lorenzen v. State*, 376 S.C. 521, 535, 657 S.E.2d 771, 779 (2008) (holding that where none of the errors alleged by the PCR applicant were meritorious, the alleged errors did not have the cumulative effect of denying the applicant of effective legal representation to the extent that prejudice was presumed), *abrogated on other grounds by Smalls*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836. As these findings are supported by probative evidence and do not constitute an error of law, certiorari should be denied.

VI. The post-conviction relief judge did not commit any conceivable statutory or constitutional violation through the process by which he decided Macon’s case when—following an evidentiary hearing—he employed a mine-run practice of asking the prevailing party to prepare a *proposed* order, considered what was presented to him, and then issued a final order that properly addressed every issue raised while also

the cumulative effect of all suppressed evidence in determining whether the “materiality” requirement of *Brady* violation has been satisfied. *Id.*

including specific findings of fact and conclusions of law as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80.

Finally, Macon contends the post-conviction relief judge violated both the separation of powers and statutory provisions of the Uniform Post-Conviction Procedure Act by requesting the prevailing party to draft a proposed order for its consideration—a routine practice in not only post-conviction relief cases but the vast majority of cases heard by the circuit court in this state. In support of that contention, Macon misrepresents the quoted portion of this Court’s opinion in *Hall v. Catoe* by omitting the second half of the sentence: “Although we strongly encourage PCR judges to draft their own findings of fact and conclusions of law *in death penalty cases*, we also acknowledge that in *all other cases*, it is common practice for judges to ask a party to draft a proposed order for the sake of efficiency.” 360 S.C. 353, 365, 601 S.E.2d 335, 341 (2004) (emphasis added). Here, the procedures employed by the PCR court were proper and the final order issued reflects thoughtful and deliberate consideration and review of the record and evidence presented by the Court and comports with statutory and constitutional requirements. Thus, Applicant’s claim that he was somehow denied the opportunity to have his claims adjudicated by a judicial officer is baseless.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument, this Court should deny the petition for a writ of certiorari.